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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

OFFICE OF NUCLEAR REACTOR REGULATION

William T. Russell, Director

In the Matter of )
)

HOUSTON LIGHTING & POWER COMPANY ) Docket Nos. 50-498
) and 50-499

(South Texas Project, ) 10 CFR 62.206
Units 1 and 2) )

DIRECTOR'S DECISION UNDER 10 CFR 62.206

1. INTRODUCTION

On May 5,1993, Mr. Thomas J. Saporito, Jr. (the Petitioner) filed a

petition with the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) pursuant to 10 CFR

2.206. The Petitioner requested that the NRC institute a show cause

proceeding pursuant to 10 CFR 2.202 to modify, suspend, or revoke the Houston

Lighting & Power Company's (HL&P's or the licensee's) NRC operating licenses

authorizing operation of South Texas Project (STP), Units 1 and 2; that the

NRC initiate appropriate actions to cause the immediate shutdown of the two

reactor cores at STP; and that the NRC issue civil penalties against the

licensee and/or licensee management personnel at HL&P's STP. The specific )

irequests were based on 14 alleged managerial, security, and human performance

problems at STP.

On July 8,1993, Thomas E. Murley, then Director of the Office of

Nuclear Reactor Regulation, informed the Petitioner that the Petition had been

referred to this Office for action pursuant to 10 CFR 2.206 of the

Commission's regulations and that the Petitioner's request for the immediate
.
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shutdown of the STP units was denied. He also informed the Petitioner that

the NRC wou'Id take appropriate action within a reasonable time regardirg the

Petitioner's request.

My Decision in this matter follows.

II. BACKGROUND

The Petitioner asserts as grounds for the request that there is no

" reasonable assurance" of safe operation of STP, because the NRC has referred

four cases of discrimination against whistleblowers to the U.S. Department of

Justice (D0J) and D0J is seeking indictments against licensee officials for

retaliation against the whistleblowers; the licensee's actions against workers

have instilled a " chilling effect" at STP; the licensee's physical plant

nuclear security program is of questionable effectiveness; the NRC Inspector

General found that the process used to justify the terminations of three

former STP employees was prejudicial to them; and NRC investigators found that

management was aware that these workers had made allegations to " Speak Out"

and/or to NRC officials; licensee officials may be held liable for allegedly

misleading the NRC about certain security-related matters; the licensee's

failure to reduce a huge maintenance backlog has led to repeated human errors

and equipment failures; the licensee maintains an autocratic, vindictive

management team at fTP, which has further instilled a chilling effect; the

licensee has 12 U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) discrimination cases pending

regarding alleged retaliatory actions taken at STP; the Director, NRC' Office

of Investigations (01), stated that if the NRC cannot rely on the licensee to

be truthful or candid then there is a major safety issue; a former security

supervisor at STP has stated that "nobody wanted to hear that there were any
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problems;" the NRC Chairman has stated that the NRC has become much more.

aggressive in pursuit of utilities that retaliate against whistleblowers; the

Director, 01, has said that he has no qualms about referring a case of alleged

utility wrongdoing to the Department of Justice; the NRC is investigating

allegations that the licensee has used surveillance devices to spy on

employees, and possibly NRC resident inspectors, at STP; and on Narch 30,

1993, a licensee executive was involved in an incident that appears to be a

form of intimidation.

III. DISCUSSION
,

A. Enforcement Action Based on Discrimination

The Petitioner asserts that HL&P's employment actions against himself,

and three other individuals are violations of 10 CFR 50.7. The Petitioner,

and the three other individuals were employed at South Texas Project when they

raised safety concerns and were subsequently terminated.

01 began an investigation to review the circumstances surrounding the

termination of plant access to the Petitioner after he had made allegations to

the NRC. 01 concluded that the licensee was inconsistent in adjudicating

access authorization decisions. Furthermore, 01 concluded that the managers

involved in the decision to revoke the Petitioner's unescorted access to STP

were prompted by his having made allegations to the NRC. DOL is reviewing the

Petitioner's case. On June 30, 1992, the District Director of the Wage and

Hour Division of the DOL found that the Petitioner had engaged in a protected

activity and that the action against him constituted a violation of Section
- 210 (now Section 211) of the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, as amended.

HL&P has appealed this decision and a hearing will be held before a D0L
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Administrative Law Judge. The NRC had not taken enforcement action on the

Petitioner's case earlier because it was waiting for a decision by DOL. NRC

understands that the DOL hearing has been postponed. Therefore, NRC proceeded

with enforcement action based on the conclusions of the OI investigation. On

October 26, 1994, the hRC issued HL&P a Notice of Violation and Proposed

Imposition of Civil Penalty in the amount of $100,000 for a violation of

10 CFR 50.7 [ Enforcement Action 93-056 (EA 93-056)]. NRC took this action in

accordance with the " General Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC

Enforcement Action," Appendix C to 10 CFR Part 2. The NRC has allowed HL&P to
i

defer payment of the civil penalty and response to the Notice of Violation

until 30 days after the decision of the D0L's Administrative Law Judge. NRC

also asked HL&P to submit (1) a description of the current duties of the

managers involved; (2) an explanation of why the NRC can have confidence that

HL&P will ensure an environment that is free from harassment, intimidation,

and discrimination; and (3) an explanation of why the NRC can have confidence

that the managers involved will comply with NRC requirements if they are

involved in NRC licensed activities in the future. The licensee is required

to respond to this request by December 25, 1994. The NRC considered the
:

violation to be a Severity Level II violation, because the discrimination |
l

involved managers whose positions were above first-line supervisors. NRC

issued EA 93-056 to send a strong message to the licensee that discrimination

by HL&P management will not be tolerated.

The NRC also issued Demands for Information to the managers involved. '

These managers are no longer affiliated with STP and are not involved in NRC-
'

licensed activities. Therefore, no immediate action by the NRC is necessary

to ensure continued safety at STP. NRC will take appropriate action against

s
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the managers, if necessary, after reviewing their responses to the Demands for

Information.

The NRC is reviewing the cases of the three other individuals and these
,

cases are also pending with D0L. NRC will consider further enforcement action

against HL&P or individual employees of HL&P, after doing a thorough review of

these cases.

B. Intimidation and Chillina Effect

The Petitioner asserts that the actions against the three other

individuals instilled a pervasive " chilling effect" at STP, dissuading other

workers from voicing safety concerns.

The NRC is committed to ensuring that the programs through which

employees can voice safety concerns are responsive and non-discriminatory.

The program at South Texas, in particular, has been thoroughly inspected. In

April 1993, the NRC conducted a diagnostic evaluation team (DET) inspection at

South Texas while the units were shut down for various problems found by NRC

and the licensee. A DET is a broadly structured evaluation to assess overall

plant operations and the adequacy of the licensee's programs for supporting

safe plant operttion. The DET for South Texas was the result of an apparent

decline in performance and a need for NRC managers to have'more information to

make an informed decision on performance. One of the issues that the team

investigated was the effectiveness of the employee concerns program. The team

found that employees perceived that the program did not always protect the

alleger's identity and that management was not always interested in employee

concerns, as demonstrated by the lack of results. However, the team did not

detect any reluctance by employees to report issues perceived as immediate

safety concerns. The NRC required the licensee to address the effectiveness

_
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of its employee concerns program as a condition of NRC approval for restart of

either unit. After the DET inspection, the licensee replaced the South Texas
.

program, which was formerly called "Speakout," with a new employee concerns

program, the Nuclear Safety and Quality Concerns Program (NSQCP). The

licensee has taken several steps to make employees feel more comfortable using

the new program including: increasing confidentiality, hiring an employee

advocate, and holding meetings between employees and management to encourage

employees to raise concerns. NRC inspected the facility again in December

1993 (Inspection Report 93-52, January 24,1994). This inspection began on'

the day that Speakout was replaced with the new program. The inspectors found

!that employees still expressed some reservation about the confidentiality of'

the program. However, most employees who expressed fear of harassment and

intimidation based their opinions on rumors, or newspaper articles, rather

than on direct evidence. The inspectors found that senior managers were

taking strong measures to improve employee comfort in bringing forth concerns.

In May 1994, NRC did a followup inspection and found that the revised program

addressed the deficiencies described in previous inspections and that licensee

managers were promoting the new program and were committed to its success

(Inspection Report 94-21, June 6, 1994). The inspectors interviewed

approximately 30 STP employees, with emphasis on employees who had previously

submitted nuclear safety concerns to the Speakout program. They found that

virtually all of the employees would submit nuclear safety concerns either to

their supervisor or to the NSQCP. Overall, the inspections showed that the

new managers and revised program have made progress in resolving any " chilling

effect" that may have been present at STP.

._ ._ . - - _ __ _. - - . . _ _ __ ___ _ _ _ _ _
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The Petitioner also asserts that the management team at STP is

" autocratic and vindictive," instilling a " chilling effect" at STP, The DET

reviewed management and organizational issues at STP during its inspection in

April 1993 and found the management and orginization weak, with ineffective

management direction and oversight, poor use of support and resources, weak

communications and teamwork, ineffective corrective action processes,

ineffective use of self-assessment and quality oversight, and inadequate

information systems. While the team did not specifically find a " chilled"

work force, it found the weaknesses discussed above to be in themselves

significant. The NRC has determined that the licensee may not have always

wanted to hear bad news and that managers ineffectively addressed problems and

issues found by plant personnel through quality assurance self-assessment. In

May 1994, the NRC did a follow-up inspection to evaluate improvements by the

licensee managers in finding, pursuing, and correcting plant problems. The

inspectors found that several initiatives by plant management to improve plant

performance were effective. These included: the addition of a second i

supervisor for each maintenance crew, a revised station problem report

process, an operations work control group, and the implementation of the

technical support engineering group. The inspectors also reviewed management
.

1

self-assessments and assessments performed by the independent assessment

organization and found these to be adequate. The inspection report states )
that

,

a significant change in plant culture was clearly underway throughout
the organization. The attitude expressed by virtually all interviewees
was that senior management encouraged ownership of problems and expected
plant personnel to identify and correct problems in a quality manner.
There did not appear to be a reluctance on the part of operators and

4
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maintenance personnel to raise concerns to management as had apparently
,existed in the past. I

(Inspection Report 94-20, at page 13)

Although the NRC has not reviewed the management style at STP, the
|

findings of the DET gave the NRC sufficient information to address the

-problems in STP management that had reduced the effectiveness of programs
;

designed to implement the findings and recommendations of plant staff.
.

l

Inspections since the DET indicate that plant management has taken steps to

ensure an atmosphere exists in which employees can raise concerns. Therefore,

the NRC does not have a reason to suspect that the current management style

instills a pervasive " chilling effect" at the facility. The information

provided by the Petitioner gives the NRC no new information and does not

provide an adequate basis for the request.

The Petitioner asserts that the work force was intimidated by an

incident that occurred on March 30, 1993, involving a licensee executive. The

licensee's executive encountered several labor union protesters distributing

leaflets on HL&P's property. According to a newspaper article, he became

enraged, drove into the plant, summoned several armed guards and returned to;

the gate area where he ordered the guards to photograph the protesters and/or

employees who took leaflets. The NRC Region IV office reviewed the incident

in question. These leaflets were designed to inform labor union members that

HL&P employed non-union labor from out of state during the current outage.

Security guards were dispatched to the scene to ask the protesters to leave

HL&P's property. NRC determined that the executive's actions were not a

.
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violation of Title 10 of the Code of federal Regulations and do not raise a

significant health and safety issue. The newspaper article referenced by the

Petitioner does not reveal any health and safety issues.

The Petitioner asserts that there have been allegations that the

licensee has used surveillance devices to spy on employees and NRC resident

inspectors at the STP nuclear station. The NRC investigated the various

allegations. In April 1993, OI performed a sweep of the resident inspectors'

offices and found no surveillance devices. This allegation was found to be

groundless. The NRC Inspector General investigated the allegation of spying

on HL&P employees and has found no evidence to support this allegation.

Therefore, this issue is considered closed for the NRC.

In summary, the staff has reviewed the Petitioner's concerns regarding
1intimidation of plant employees and has determined that the Petitioner does '

inot raise a significant health or safety issue.

C. Referrals to Other Government Acencies ;

The Petitioner asserts that the licensee can no longer provide

reasonable assurance to the NRC that STP will be safely operated because the

NRC has referred four cases of whistleblower discrimination to 00J. The
|

Petitioner also asserts that the licensee has 12 00L discrimination cases '

pending as a result of alleged retaliatory actions taken at STP.

Referrals to D0J do not necessarily indicate challenges to the public

health and safety. Consistent with the Memorandum of Understanding Between

the Nuclear Regulatory Commission and the Department of Justice (53 fed. Reg.

50317; December 14, 1988; hereafter "MOV"), the NRC will refer cases to 00J

when the staff suspects criminal wrongdoing. Such referral to the D0J does

not prevent the NRC staff from taking action to safeguard the public health

,
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and safety. If the NRC concludes that immediate action is required to protect-

-the public health and safety, it will proceed with such action as is necessary

to abate the immediate problem and then notify the DOJ. Upon learning of the

alleged discrimination in the four cases mentioned above, the NRC investigated

and found that. although the alleged chilling effect did not present an
1

immediate threat to public health and safety, these cases indicated that the

licensee's employee concerns program (Speakout program) was ineffective. The

NRC required HL&P to address the effectiveness of the Speakout program before

restarting either unit from the extended outage in 1993. This decision is

documented in Supplement 2 to the Confirmatory Action Letter of October 15, . |

1993.

The Petitioner does not give an adequate basis for maintaining that the

" licensee can no longer provide ' reasonable assurance' for the safe operation" l

of the facility as a result of a referral to D0J. The Petitioner cited a,

newspaper article (Houston Chronicle, March 28,1993) as the reference for

this allegation. The article gives NRC no additional facts and does not

provide an adequate basis for the request.

In accordance with the MOV between the Department of Labor and the NRC

(47 fed. Reg. 54585; December 3,1982), D0L advises the NRC of the status of

pending cases. The NRC reviews DOL filings and decisions and may take

enforcement action based on DOL decisions if the NRC has not conducted its own,

investigation. DOL discrimination cases as a result of alleged retaliatory

actions are not, in themselves, evidence of improper conduct sufficient to
'

jeopardize nuclear safety. The fact that a discrimination case is pending
L

;, before the D0L does not prohibit the NRC from takir.g :r,y immediate enforcement

action that it believes is necessary.
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The NRC takes alleged retaliatory action and discrimination by licensees

seriously and has taken enforcement action against the licensee for one of

these cases. (See Section III.A, above) HRC may take further enforcement

action as it completes its own investigation of the remaining cases. The

staff has concluded that the D0L filings and D0J referrals do not raise a

significant health or safety issue.

D. Submission of Misleadina Information to the NRC
|
'The Petitioner asserts that there has been an allegaticn that the

licensee misled the NRC concerning security related matters. The Petitioner

alleges that STP officials may have misled the NRC about power failures that

disabled parts of a security intrusion detect %n field. The NRC received

allegations about this event and reviewed this issue as part of a safeguards

inspection at South Texas Project in August 1991. The inspectors determined

that the Unit 2 perimeter and vital area alarms were inoperable, because both

primary and backup power sources were rendered inoperable on March 9,15, and

21, 1991. The inspectors found that the power failures lasted from a minimum-

of 20 minutes to a maximum of 2 hours and 50 minutes. However, contrary to

allegations, compensatory measures were taken within 10 minutes. The licensee

did operational tests of the alarms at the time of power restart, but did not

do functional tests, as required by the Physical Security Plan. The NRC

issued a Severity Level IV violation for failure to conduct functional

testing. 01 reviewed the case to determine if the licensee had misled the NRC

regarding these power failures. In September 1991, 01 closed its

investigation after determining that the licensee committed no wrongdoing.

|
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The Petitioner gives no additional facts other than those already known by the

NRC and does not present a substantial health or safety issue that would call

into question the continued safe operation of STP.

E. Maintenance Backlog

The Petitioner asserts that the licensee failed to reduce a " huge

maintenance backlog" of corrective work that has led to repeated human errors

and equipment failures. In its April 1993 inspection, the DET reviewed the

maintenance backlog in detail and found that the work control process at STP

was inefficient and manpower intensive, which contributed to the poor material

condition of the plant. However, the inspectors found no instances of

equipment failure which could be attributed to delayed maintenance. The DET's

findings are documented in a report of June 10, 1993.

NRC discussed the maintenance backlog in a supplement to the

confirmatory action letter of May 7, 1993, as an issue that had to be

addressed before restarting either unit. Since the DET inspection, the

licensee has developed a management plan to reduce the backlog. The licensee

developed a new classification system for service requests to improve

productivity. The licensee also developed the Maintenance Rover Work Program

to improve the timely resolution of low priority service requests that did not

require detailed work planning. The NRC reviewed these corrective actions and

considers them good initiatives. The licensee significantly reduced the Unit

I and common service request backlog from approximately 3000 at the beginning

of 1993 to 961 service requests prior to restart in February 1994. Unit 2 had

a backlog of 615 service requests prior to its restart in May 1994. In

January 1994, NRC did an inspection to determine the effectiveness of the

licensee's efforts to reduce and maintain an acceptable maintenance backlog.
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The inspectors _found that the licensee was quickly addressing high priority

work. The inspectors concluded that, with the current maintenance programs in

place, the licensee should be able to keep the service request backlog

manageable. The backlog as of October 31, 1994, was 717 service requests for

j Unit I and common, and 433 for Unit 2. The inspectors also reviewed the

[ service request backlog to ensure that maintenance activities that were

deferred did not compromise the reliability of safety-related equipment. They,

concluded that the maintenance actions which are deferred have adequate

technical basis for such deferral. Therefore, the licensee has sufficient

control of its maintenance program to ensure that safety significant repairs
1

; are completed in a timely manner. Inspection Report 94-20, June 10, 1994,

includes a discussion of the NRC's evaluation of the service request backlog. I

The inspectors concluded that the licensee was maintaining control of service

request backlog levels and had taken sufficient actions to control the

backlogs in the foreseeable future. |

The Petitioner refers to a newspaper article (Nouston Chronicle, March 28,

1993) which gives no additional facts other than those already known by the,

NRC and does not provide an adequate basis for the request. In summary, the

Petitioner does not present a substantial health or safety issue that would

call into question the safe operation of STP.'

F. Effectiveness of the Physical Security Plan

The Petitioner asserts that the licensee's physical plant nuclear

security program is of questionable effectiveness because a simulated

terrorist team was able to penetrate the vital area of STP during a training
1

exercise in 1992 as cited in a newspaper article (#ouston Chronicle, March 28, |

'

1993). The licensee had an NRC-approved training and qualification plan in

|
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effect and was conducting training in compliance with that plan when the

incident occurred. One purpose of training is to find weaknesses in

personnel, tactics, and procedures. The training revealed one security

exercise weakness for which the licensee took corrective actions. During an

. operational safeguards response evaluation (OSRE) conducted in January 1993,

the licensee successfully demonstrated its capability to protect against a

design basis threat. The OSRE team documented its conclusions in an OSRE I

report of March 17, 1993.

The NRC conducts OSREs to evaluate a licensee's ability to protect

against the design-basis threat of radiological sabotage and to ensure that ;

the safeguards measures do not adversely affect the safe operation of the

plant. The OSRE team was established to do reviews to help resolve generic

safeguards issues and to evaluate the 28 sites where th' regulatory

effectiveness review team had not observed contingency drills. STP was one of |
these sites. The OSRE team consists of a nuclear engineer, safeguards

specialists from the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation and NRC's regional

office, the resident inspector, and active-duty U.S. Army Special Forces

personnel acting in a support and advisory role under an interagency I
agreement.

l

The OSRE team at STP noted in the March 17, 1993, report the overall
|

soundness and use of response capabilities and the rapid, intense, and

generally effective execution of the security strategy by the total response

force. These findings were based on discussions with security force members

and observations of response force drills and critiques. The OSRE team found

no significant deficiencies and found a high level of safeguards effectiveness;

'

at STP. The newspaper article referred to above by the Petitioner gives no

I
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additional facts other than those already kncwn by the NRC and does not

provide an adequate basis for the request. The staff has concluded that the

issues raised concerning the security program have been satisfactorily

addressed by the licensee and are not significant to health and safety.

G. Reauest for Institution of Proceedinas Under Section 2.206.

'

The Petitioner requests that the NRC initiate a show cause proceeding to

revoke, modify and/or suspend South Texas Project's operating licenses. The

institution of proceedings in response to a request for action under 10 CFR

2.206 is appropriate only when substantial health and safety issues have been

raised See Consolidated Edison Co. of New York (Indian Point, Unit 1, 2

and 3), CLI-75-8, 2 NRC 173, 176 (1975), and Arizona Pubifc Service Co. (Palo

Verde Nuclear Generating Station, Units 1, 2, and 3), DD-92-1, 35 NRC 133,

143-44 (1992). The allegations contained in the instant petition do not raise

substantial health and safety issues that would justify revoking, suspending,

or modifying the South Texas licenses. Accordingly, I have concluded that no

adequate basis exists for initiating a proceeding as requested by the

Petitioner.

IV. CONCLUSION

The NRC staff has reviewed the basis and justification stated to support

the Petitioner's request that the NRC institute a show cause proceeding

pursuant to 10 CFR 2.202 to modify, suspend, or revoke HL&P's NRC operating

licenses authorizing the operation of South Texas Project, Units 1 and 2, and

t' ' the NRC take appropriate actions to cause the immediate shutdown of the |.

twu reactor cores at South Texas Project. The staff finds that no adequate l

basis exists for granting the Petitioner's request for immediate shutdown of

I
:

|
.

v ' w s- r-e-sm- w -



- . - . - - -- _

.-

.

- 16 -

South Texas Project, Units I and 2; or for a proceeding to show cause why the

operating licenses should not be modified, suspended, or revoked, as no

substantial health or safety issues have been raised by the Petition. The

Petitioner also requested that the NRC issue civil penalties against the

licensee and/or licensee management personnel at HL&P's South Texas Project.

This request has been granted insofar as the NRC has issued a proposed civil

penalty to HL&P for a violation of 10 CFR 50.7.

A copy of this Decision will be filed with the Secretary of the

Commission for review in accordance with 10 CFR 2.206(c). The Decision will

become final action of the Commission twenty-five (25) days after issuance
I

unless the Commission, on its own motion, institutes review of the Decision

within that time.

FOR THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

hNP- T-

William T. Russell, Director
Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation

Dated at Rockville, Maryland,
this 20th day of December 1994
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